

Su, Ziqiong (2020) Social networking sites (SNS) in English as a second or foreign language (ESL/EFL) teaching and learning: a literature review. [MSc].

Copyright © 2020 The Author

Copyright and moral rights for this work are retained by the author(s)

A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge

This work cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the author(s)

The content must not be shared, changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the author

When referring to this work, full bibliographic details including the author, title, institution and date must be given

http://endeavour.gla.ac.uk/489/

Deposited: 12 November 2020



SOCIAL NETWORKING SITES (SNS) IN ENGLISH AS A SECOND OR FOREIGN LANGUAGE (ESL\EFL) TEACHING AND LEARNING: A LITERATURE REVIEW

Ziqiong Su

Dissertation submitted in part fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science (Educational Studies)

University of Glasgow

24th August,2020

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The study was completed during the COVID-19. First, I was grateful to my supervisor, Harry Blee, for his consistent persistence and enthusiasm. His guidance, discussion, words of encouragement and feedback helped me a lot during this period. Second, I would like to thank all the staff at the University of Glasgow, at the School of Education, for their commitment to our health and education. And finally, I would like to thank my family and friends, for mentally and physically supporting my academic studies.

ABSTRACT

In recent years, the rapid development of social networking sites (SNS) has benefited the whole field of education, especially foreign language teaching. However, few studies have provided comprehensive evidence for whether SNS positively influence English as a second and foreign language (ESL\EFL) teaching and learning (L2TL). The main purpose of this paper is to synthesize the effectiveness of SNS in L2TL. Also, the perspectives of students and teachers on this educational purpose will be explored.

This paper critically analyzed 31 articles on effectiveness of SNS from 2011 to 2020. The findings revealed that SNS could improve ESL\EFL learners' Knowledge and abilities in all aspects of English, including vocabulary acquisition, writing skills, oral performance and intercultural competence.

Combining with the main characteristics of SNS, this study also produce evidence that most teachers and students hold a positive attitude towards the use of SNS in L2TL. SNS have the potential to provide a more authentic language communication environment and more interactive experience, as they can not only stimulate students' personal motivation to improve learning but also promote their participation.

The research gaps were identified in this review, including technical problems, individual privacy protection, task design and social anxiety. The results of this review would provide guidance for educators in the design and delivery of SNS-based L2TL.

Table of Contents

1. INTRODUCTION
2. METHODOLOGY
2.1 Data collection12
2.1.1 Inclusion criteria15
2.1.2 Exclusion criteria16
2.1.3 Data recording17
2.2 Data evaluation17
2.2.1 Data encoding18
2.3 Data analysis19
2.4 Research Ethics20
2.5 Summary21
3. LITERATURE REVIEW
3.1 SNS in ESL\EFL teaching and learning23
3.1.1 SNS enhancement of the student's writing skills23
3.1.2 SNS as media for improving oral skills26
3.1.3 SNS as a tool for vocabulary acquisition28
3.1.4 SNS as a space for intercultural communication
3.2 Two perspectives on using SNS for educational purposes
3.2.1 The perspectives of ESL\EFL learners on SNS
3.2.1.1 Flexible access
3.2.1.2 Ease of use35

3.2.1.3 Participation
3.2.1.4 Intrinsic motivation
3.2.1.5 Authentic language practice41
3.2.1.6 Collaborative and communicative competence
3.2.1.7 Reduction of anxiety44
3.2.2 Using SNS in ESL\EFL pedagogy: Attitudes and roles of teachers
3.3 Summary48
4. DISCUSSION AND RECOMMENDATION
5. CONCLUSION
REFERENCES

1. INTRODUCTION

The revolution and availability of social networks, multimedia and digital technology have remarkably changed our lifestyles in recent years. The whole field of education and foreign language teaching has also benefited from these improvements and progress. Appropriate use of innovative technologies increase learners' interest and confidence, facilitate students' access to target language input, offer more interactive opportunities and feedback to them, and provide teachers with the tools in term of designing teaching tasks (Favier *et al.*, 2007; Levy, 2009; Berlanga *et al.*, 2011; Ciampa, 2014; Golonka *et al.*, 2014). Today, the internet, technology, and media, as well as the use of English in virtual social platforms, offer language learners and teachers more meaningful and real language use opportunities and useful teaching tools than in the classroom (Chen, 2016; Huang and Chuang, 2016; Cynthia, 2017).

As an emerging technology, social media has been applied in various fields all over the world. Users can add to the network in a variety of ways, such as: posting videos, photos, or comments; responding to or liking comments, photos or videos from others; making friends with people in the industry by sending friend requests or getting subscribers and favorites (Alshenqeeti, 2018). The advent of social media during this period influenced how people around the world communicated and how they retrieved information. The growth of new virtual spaces and the increased number and types of social media platforms enable people to share and exchange messages, opinions, personal information, and other content on online communities through mobile and web-based devices without time or distance barriers (Carr and Hayes, 2015).

Social media encompasses a vast array of digital applications, including social networking sites (SNS), blogs, forums and podcasts. Nevertheless, some types of social media have richer features, allowing a higher level of communication and collaboration. Especially, popular SNS like Facebook and Twitter attract

hundreds of thousands of users worldwide with their unique functions (Phua *et al.*, 2017; Alhabash, 2017). Additionally, SNS not only recognizes content provided by users, content provided by other users, and data provided by the system but also realizes real-time communication and interaction among online users (Ellison, 2013). As a subfield of social media, SNS has many broad definitions. In this review, the term "social networking sites" refer to any web-based and mobile-based technology which can be used on many different platforms including picture and video sharing, podcasts, microblogs, wikis and google+, as they have more complex functions that has been thought to be more sensitive in influencing learning (Hattem and Lomicka, 2016; Manca and Ranieri, 2016; Snelson, 2016; Barrot, 2018).

Learning English is a rapidly increasing trend all over the world and the emergence of SNS brings adequate convenience and opportunities to English as a second or foreign language (ESL\EFL) learners and teachers. It creates an open platform for learners, on which both students and working adults can flexibly access and share resources and experiences of learning English anytime and anywhere. Moreover, native speakers and non-native speakers or more proficient language learners can seek feedback for better development between them in the particular space provided by these SNS. Rational use of SNS characteristics can maximize the students' opportunities for knowledge acquisition and collaborative learning through autonomic learning, peer interaction and scaffolding (Liu et al., 2015). Some studies have noted that SNS positively changes learners' attitude, learning motivation and academic performance compared with traditional learning methods (Nikbakht and Boshrabadi, 2015; Dizon, 2016; Talakoub, 2018). Besides, SNS can serve as an auxiliary tool for instruction, e.g., pictures and videos in SNS help teachers present classroom teaching content in a more intuitive, clear, and concise way, making it easy for students to comprehend intricate knowledge. Simultaneously,

teachers can conduct out-of-class dialogues with students through SNS, and students can receive the teacher's message and feedback quickly through such online interaction. Although the initial purpose of SNS such as Twitter, YouTube, and MySpace is not education, they have been used in different fields of language instruction.

Other studies have found that SNS has a positive impact on the verbal ability of ESL\EFL learners (Qarajeh and Adbolmanafi-Rokni, 2015; Fouz-González, 2017). These learners living in non-English-speaking countries have weak oral expression due to insufficient listening and speaking practice (Yang and Chang, 2008) as well as being hesitant or anxious (Khan, 2015; Liu, 2018). The SNS-based ESL\EFL communication environment has a significant prospect for developing the oral skills of young English learners, who feel less pressure when communicating in this environment compared to regular face-to-face communication (Huang, 2015; Sun *et al.*, 2017). Nevertheless, Bicen (2015) argued that although students were learning foreign languages through social networks, they would still feel anxious when communicating with others. Thus, the effectiveness and feasibility of SNS in ESL\EFL should be verified by more educational practitioners and researchers.

SNS provide a common means for user groups to engage in meaningful learning and establish a bridge between formal and informal learning environments (Zourou, 2008). These sites not only can be used as a real way to get in touch with language and culture outside the classroom, but also it is believed that participating in SNS can become an ideal medium for language teaching and learning (Baralt, 2011). However, while these new means of communication appeal to ESL\EFL learners and teachers, and manufacturers of language learning materials, their usage in English learning and teaching continue to be controversial, e.g., social media ethics (Blyth, 2015). The comprehensive

research evidence on the effectiveness and feasibility of SNS integration into ESL\EFL teaching and learning (L2TL) remains scant.

The initial motivation for studying this topic was my curiosity about SNS and my experience as an ESL\EFL learner, which drives me to learn more systematically about the effectiveness of SNS in English learning and teaching. As a researcher preparing for education sectors, I think it is meaningful to do this research. It can not only help me correctly and objectively understand the advantages and disadvantages of SNS, but also serve as a guide for my future practice in traditional, online and blended teaching. The result of this study may provide valuable insight into how SNS plays a role in language learning and instruction, as well as a direction to the design and implementation of SNS educational interventions. Besides, the reason why this review did not focus on a particular educational stage or an educated population was aimed to finding more evidence about the effectiveness of SNS in ESL\EFL and its acceptance in practice. Thus, this study did not consider the intervention of individual factors such as age, gender and occupation of learners or teachers, nor did it limit the learning environment (formal or informal). Future studies will pay more attention to the effect of learning environment on the use of SNS in L2TL.

The primary aim of the study is to synthesize evidence on the effectiveness of social networking sites (SNS) in English as a second or foreign language (ESL\EFL) teaching and learning (L2TL). To broaden our investigation on the application of SNS in L2TL, this studies attempts to: (a) provide an overview of empirical studies of SNS in L2TL between 2011 and 2020; (b) explore the overall effectiveness of various types of SNS-based L2TL interventions; (c) explore learners' and teachers' attitudes of the application of SNS in L2TL.

The following two research questions were examined and discussed in the critical review:

(1) What are the effects of SNS on ESL\EFL teaching and learning(L2TL)?

(2) What are the perspectives of teachers and learners towards using SNS for this purpose?

To sum up, this dissertation has five chapters: (1) Introduction and Rationale; (2) Methodology; (3) Literature review (4) Discussion; and (5) Conclusion. In this chapter, the context, the aim and questions of research had been introduced and interpreted. How to obtain the research literature will be presented in the research methodology in the next chapter.

2. METHODOLOGY

In the previous chapter, the researcher stated and explained the definition of SNS, the context of using SNS in L2TL, the purpose and problems of the study, and the research value. In this chapter, the research methodology will be described in detail. A well-designed integrative research review comprises five steps (Cooper, 1986): (1) problem formulation (see Chapter 1) , (2) data collection or literature search, (3) data evaluation, (4) data analysis, and (5) interpretation and presentation of results. In the following, the researcher focused on the steps (2) to (4).

2.1 Data collection

The data collection phase or literature search involved two main procedures. The first step was to search for academic resources related to the topic using (1) online search engines, (2) relevant journals, (3) computerized bibliographic databases, (4) review articles, (5) online citation databases, (6) online reference databases, (7) the world-wide websites databases, and (8) conference papers. The second step aimed at formulating the inclusion and exclusion criteria. In this stage, previous relevant studies were searched, gathered, sorted and evaluated. This was based on the criteria below.

The following steps were taken to seek for relevant studies.

Step 1: Identification of keywords and search terms

To access the initial batch of literature, the previous studies in Sulaiman (2017) and Reinhardt's (2019) literature reviews were retrieved. In the references of these two reviews, some potential keywords and subjects words or the combination of words were found, e,g., online collaboration, second language acquisition, which provided inspirations for identifying search terms. In addition, Facebook, YouTube, Twitter, Instagram and microblogs were served as keywords to facilitate a comprehensive literature search because of their high frequency of occurrence in the reference list.

The following were the key keywords in the different combinations used for the initial database search: (1) Social media + ESL\EFL teaching and learning, (2) Social networking sites (SNS) + ESL\EFL learning\teaching, (3) Facebook + ESL\EFL learning\teaching, (4) YouTube + ESL\EFL learning\teaching, (5) Twitter + ESL\EFL learning\teaching, (6) Instagram + ESL\EFL learning\teaching, (7) Google+ + ESL\EFL learning\teaching, (8) Wiki + ESL\EFL learning\teaching, (9) microblogs + ESL\EFL learning\teaching, (10) Social media + ESL\EFL learners'\teachers' SNS ESL\EFL perceptions\attitudes, (11) + learners'\teachers' perceptions\attitudes, (12) Facebook + ESL\EFL learners'\teachers' perceptions\attitudes, (13) YouTube ESL\EFL + learners'\teachers' perceptions\attitudes, (14) Twitter ESL\EFL + learners'\teachers' perceptions\attitudes, (15) Instagram ESL\EFL + learners'\teachers' perceptions\attitudes, (16) Google+ ESL\EFL + learners'\teachers' Wiki perceptions\attitudes, (17) + ESL\EFL

learners'\teachers' perceptions\attitudes, (18) microblogs + ESL\EFL learners'\teachers' perceptions\attitudes.

Step 2: Computerize bibliographic databases

The keywords and combinations mentioned above were used to retrieve qualified preliminary studies from computerized bibliographic databases, which included (1) Educational Resources Center (ERIC), (2) ProQuest Academic, (3) Cambridge University Press, (4) ScienceDirect, (5) Library and Information Science Abstracts (LISA), (6) Periodical Archive Online, (7) ProQuest Dissertations and Theses A and I, (8) ACM Digital Library. Additionally, some data files from universities, research institutions, national and regional statistical agencies (e.g., UNESCO, OECD) were also available for secondary data analysis. They were well-known databases that covered a wide range of research areas and provided recent thesis\papers.

Step 3: Authorative ESL\EFL academic journals

These prestigious academic journals (listed below) had been recognized as relevant sources of potential qualified research. Susan - recognized by whom? The following was the list of the academic journals: (1) Computer Assisted Language Learning, (2) International Journal of Computer-Assisted Language Learning and Teaching (IJCALLT), (3) Arab World English Journal, (4) Journal of Foreign Language Education and Technology (5) International Journal of Advanced and Applied Sciences, (6) Advances in Language and Literary Studies, (7) The Asia-Pacific Education Researcher, (8) Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences, (9) Teaching English with Technology, (10) Internet and Higher Education, (11) Theory and Practice in Language Studies, (12) Journal of Computer Assisted Learning, (13) CALL, (14) CALICO Journal, (15) ReCALL, (16) System, (17) TESOL Journal, (18) Language Learning and Technology, (19) Educational Technology Research and Development. Besides, the World Wide

Web was used to retrieve as many eligible studies as possible, including published and unpublished journals, dissertation\theses and conference papers that may have been deleted from the previous pages. However, the search only involved publicly accessible articles. Why? Sometimes it is helpful to the reader to state the obvious.

2.1.1 Inclusion criteria

(1) The scope of the literature review was limited to articles published from 2011 to 2020. The time period was chosen first because by 2011, according to Pew Research Center (2011), 65% of American adults used the SNS, a rise of nearly double since 2008, and on its way to roughly three-quarters (73%) of U.S. adults by 2019. Second, the literature in the year before 2011 was insufficient, given that SNS was a relatively new phenomenon. Since 2011, the research on SNS assisted EFL learning, and teaching has seen a continuous increase in publication in CALL, CALICO and other journals (e.g., Pellet, 2012), gradually ascending to a peak in 2018 based on the primary research findings (Alshenqeeti, 2018; Kessler, 2018).

(2) The full text of the article was available. This was to ensure that the data collected was open and valid.

(3) The intervention needed to be either one type of SNS or a combination of SNS used for educational purposes. If a mix of interventions were used, results of SNS components had to be clearly recognizable. This review mainly focused on the field of computer-assisted or mobile-assisted language learning. Due to the diversity of SNS types and functions, the theme-related SNS(s) were chosen as the intervention objects in order to ensure the validity of the data.

(4) All types of studies design were included. The inclusion criteria aimed at searching a wide range of related research.

(5) The studies included in the quantitative analysis had to conform to the following criteria: (a) the dependent variables were a measure of the effectiveness of SNS in English learning and teaching; and (b) the independent variable referred to the usage of different SNS platforms, which were accurately defined and reported.

(6) The outcome(s) had to include a change in:

- a) learners' professional or personal knowledge or skills;
- b) the perspectives of learners, teachers, and practice staff towards learning with SNS.

This was because only these changes enabled them to prove and analyze the effectiveness of SNS in language learning.

(7) Participation in the studies had to be ESL\EFL learners or faculty. One thing to notice was that the participants' second or foreign language had to be English. It aimed at ensuring the consistency of the target language.

2.1.2 Exclusion criteria

(1) Qualitative studies about SNS in L2TL mainly focused on :(a) pedagogical recommendations for using SNS for L2TL; (b) materials or technologies development; and (c) theoretical formation or discussion papers. These findings were excluded as they could not provide evidence for the effectiveness of SNS in L2TL.

(2) Secondary sources such as (a) bibliographies; (b) biographical works; (c) literature reviews and review articles; (d) descriptive and critical articles; (e) commentaries; (f) articles from magazines, journals, and newspapers; (g) papers or theses and (h) textbooks did not provide accurate and reliable data for evaluating the effectiveness and were, therefore, excluded.

(3) Studies which surveyed the effectiveness of SNS on the learners' native language or first language. This was not consistent with the target language (English as a second or foreign language).

(4) Non-English or non-Chinese. Because the researcher's native language was Chinese, and the second language was English. The purpose of this exclusion was to avoid any misunderstanding when researchers read literature, which might lead to data analysis bias.

2.1.3 Data recording

This review utilized the qualitative method of data generate, as it mainly focused on the data analysis and did not involved data quantitative processing. In this section, the researcher recorded the process of generating the data. To identify studies, I searched for associated the combination of keywords above (See 2.1) in the 2011 to 2020 issues of the journals. In the initial search, I found that the literature in my study field was closely associated with computer-assisted learning and mobile learning, which gave me more direction for the next search. In addition, those literature mainly was based on the science facts, that was positivist. Then, I searched for both computerize bibliographic databases and authoritative ESL\EFL academic journals of the recent essays and chapters hat might have been missed out. By this step, a total of 63 papers had been retrieved; most of them were positivist. Next, I browsed the part of abstract, discussion and conclusions of these 63 papers, and finally collected 31 papers based on the inclusion and exclusion criteria.

2.2 Data evaluation

In this stage, the eligible studies were put into two main categories based on the two research questions: (1) the effectiveness of SNS for L2TL, and (2) the perspectives of teachers and students towards using SNS for this purpose. Then, the information in these eligible studies, such as samples, research designs, and bibliographic references were encoded in the next stage, which would facilitate the researcher to locate the data.

2.2.1 Data encoding

The purpose of data encoding was to (1) determine the variables of interest in this study, (2) categorize studies according to variables, (3) classify the effectiveness of SNS in L2TL, (4) categorize students' or teachers' attitudes towards the application of SNS in L2TL, and (5) select appropriate data for inclusion.

This study chose one of Carnell and Daly's (2001) approaches to organizing the literature review chapter, dividing the literature into different themes and categories. Thematic analysis was an accessible qualitative method for understanding viewpoints of varying research participants and for highlighting similarities and differences and summarising key features. According to Nowell *et al.*'s (2017) approach for conducting a trustworthy thematic analysis, this stage began with: (a) familiarizing yourself with your data, i.e., looking through the data and reading or viewing it carefully to get familiar with it, (b) generating initial codes including words or short phrase, (c) searching for themes; similar codes (e.g., EFL learning tool) would be combined, organized and collapsed until arriving at a list of themes, and (d) reviewing topics; these themes were carefully reviewed and revised to ensure they are meaningful.

Next, this study referred to and modified the coding manual from previous literature reviews developed by Plonsky (2011) and Taj *et al.* (2016). Some additional information was also included in the coding sheet, e.g., (1) the name of the author(s), (2) publication year, (3) country, (4) study aims, (5) the name of SNS, (6) methods, (7) participants, (8) setting, and (9) findings. Besides, learning outcomes and attitudes/perceptions were coded as being either positive, negative and neutral, or not specified respectively. The purpose of this step is to help researchers improve the efficiency of searching and retrieving auxiliary data and ensure the availability of data sets (Joop and Hennie, 2005). Meanwhile, in order to provide the quality and validity of data, researchers' credibility needed to be evaluated including personal or professional information and background characteristics. This might affected the data collection, analysis, research background, interpretation neither negative nor positive in the minds of users of findings and other relative questions (Patton, 1999).

Through constant comparison, the coding scheme was gradually refined and finally refined into five topics, closely related to the research purpose: (1) SNS in ESL\EFL learning, (2) SNS in ESL\EFL teaching, (3) ESL\EFL learners' views on SNS, and (4) teachers' attitudes towards using SNS in ESL\EFL pedagogy. These phases were specifically described in the literature review section below.

2.3 Data analysis

In analyzing each paper or set of papers, a checklist of quality assessment criteria (see below) was formulated to measure the research validity and reliability, which aimed at considering whether the data appropriated fit the research questions (Joop and Hennie, 2005). Cohen *et al.* (2011:572) have indicated that some documents may be "limited, selective, partial, biased,

non-neutral, and incomplete because they were intended for a different purpose other than that of research". Thus, in term of analysing the qualitative data, a variety of means had been given by Cohen *et al.* (2011), e.g., researchers needed to know or be able to infer witting or unwitting evidence, the intention of the text and the causality of a particular situation.

The checklist of quality assessment criteria contained (1) Was intervention a social networking site or a specific social networking platform? (2) Have the professional or personal knowledge or skills of ESL\EFL learners been changed through the use of SNS (3) What were the attitudes\perspectives of learners towards using SNS in L2TL? (4) What were the teachers' attitudes\perspectives towards using SNS in ESL\EFL teaching? Followed by, papers covering any one of the four issues were incorporated into the next phase: (a) the papers were reassessed against inclusion, exclusion, and quality assessment criteria and (b) statistics were extracted and analyzed the included detailed results. All efforts were made to ensure that data was collected and analyzed truly and fairly.

2.4 Research Ethics

Research integrity and ethics were still critically important in studies that did not involve collecting data from individuals. According to the Ethical Guidelines for Educational Research (2018), this study explained and expounded the ethical issues involved. First, this review utilized qualitative analysis to survey and synthesize the findings of primary studies. It did not involve human participants. All datasets were obtained from identifiable and publicly available digital libraries or websites (Houston, 2019). Second, the researcher kept clear and accurate records of the procedures followed and of the results obtained and all data files were stored on the researcher's private computer with a password. Once the study was finished, the researcher deleted the electronic records, using secure removal software. Third, the whole writing process of the dissertation was carried out indoors due to the COVID-19. If

there were any potential risks of personal safety (e.g., nervousness or anxiety), I would contact my supervisor and administrators. Fourth, the only dissemination of the research results was as the postgraduate dissertation.

2.5 Summary

In this section, through searching quality databases and websites, developing inclusion and exclusion criteria, data coding, data evaluation, and data analysis, the researcher finally obtained 31 useful papers. In the following chapter, the findings of the studies were critically interpreted and elaborated. The first part of the literature review was the application of SNS in L2TL, and the second phase was concerned with the attitude of learners and teachers towards using SNS for educational purposes.

3. LITERATURE REVIEW

This review interpreted and discussed the literature on the usage of SNS in L2TL. It was aimed at audiences who are unfamiliar with this topic. When information technology and mobile media could change the content, time and place of people's learning, the focus on SNS as a field of research flourished as a consequence of the influence of SNS on educational and instructional effects. In this paper, there was a large amount of extensive evidence summarized and explained by exploring the characteristics of SNS and its relationship with English language learning. It was shown how SNS plays a role in L2TL.

Is SNS effective for ESL\EFL teaching and learning? How do teachers and students view SNS being used for this purpose? Foreign language teachers have

frequently asked these questions since social networking platforms had been applied continuously for English education. It was when some educators (e.g., Lantz-Andersson *et al.*, 2013; Manca and Ranieri, 2013) associated the application of SNS with students' learning performance that a mass of relevant research started to emerge (Thapa, 2017). However, the usage of SNS in foreign language learning was not a new topic, as computer-assisted language learning have become as a new way of language acquisition and instruction since the 1980s\ the early 1990s (Carrier, 1985: Chapelle and Jamieson, 1986; Beauvois, 1992; Swann, 1992). There were a large number of articles on SNS, which reflected a series of views on the causes and results of SNS affecting ESL\EFL learners' knowledge and abilities. As discussed below, these diverse viewpoints agreed that SNS was a feasible tool for language learning and teaching, but there was disagreement on the effectiveness of SNS in practice and the attitude of teachers or students towards SNS. This article aimed to review the literature on these issues and synthesized evidence on the effects of SNS.

The mixed-use of qualitative and quantitative literature in this study had little impact on the structure of the review. This was because the focus of this review was to find relevant and key topics based on the commonality of literature results and summarize the effectiveness of SNS. Also, the analysis of quantitative and qualitative literature helped researchers determine the difference between data and descriptive results and helped them to judge whether or not the evidence is persuasive.

This literature review selected a total of 31 articles that met the above methodology (see 2. Methodology). These would be critically analyzed in the following chapters according to different topics. It began by introducing several SNS-assisted learning outcomes, namely knowledge and skills. Then, it went on to explore the relationship between the characteristics of SNS and English learning or teaching by synthesizing the views of learners and teachers

on SNS for educational purposes.

3.1 SNS in ESL\EFL teaching and learning

Since 2011, research on SNS-assisted English as a second and foreign language teaching and learning (L2TL) followed several intertwined strands:

- a. SNS enhancement of the student's writing skills;
- b. SNS as media for improving oral skills;
- c. SNS as a tool for vocabulary acquisition;
- **d.** SNS as a space for intercultural communication.

3.1.1 SNS enhancement of the student's writing skills

An important strand of research demonstrated that SNS could enhance students' learning achievements including their writing skills, but there were some limitations in this literature.

Teacher intervention was a potential factor affecting students' learning achievements not least re their writing skills. In Savran and Aydin's (2016) Wiki-based writing instruction project, 42 pre-service English teachers majoring in advanced English were placed in different learning environments (e.g., wiki-based writing environment and traditional pen-paper writing environment) to practice writing taught by the same instructor. After analyzing the writing achievements, the researcher discovered that compared to the traditional pen-paper model, learning in the wiki-based online environment enabled the increase of EFL learners' writing performance regarding content. Meanwhile, Dizon (2016) conducted a similar comparative study between Facebook and paper-and-pencil. Thirty-six first-and-second years EFL students in a Japan university participated in a free-writing task. The comparison showed a significant difference by the experimental group re progress, with the biggest differences in writing fluency. In contrast to Savran and Aydin, the courses in Dizon's (2016) research were taught by different teachers, a factor which could have influenced the results. Several researchers supported this view that teachers' intervention affected EFL learners' learning motivation and, thus, their academic performance (Alrabai, 2016; Amiryousefi and Geld, 2019).

Besides, a general limitation of the literature discussed above was the small study population. This was also evident elsewhere, for example, Vurdien (2013) had 11 Spanish university EFL learners created personal blogs to read and share their opinions and comment on their peers' postings. The result showed that blogs-based tasks taught them the proper way to effectively plan specific writing tasks, thus improving their writing skills. Bring together different sources, Razak *et al.* (2013) organized a particular Facebook group for 24 EFL learners from different Arab countries, where participants were allowed to interact in weekly writing activities and answer open online questions posted by teachers. Based on the mix of quantitative and qualitative analysis, Razak *et al.* demonstrated that most learners hold a positive attitude on the effectiveness of Facebook in enhancing their writing skills.

A recent article was written by Albashtawi and AlBataineh (2020) also covered the parallel findings. Once again, this was relatively small-scale research. In their study, 26 EFL diploma students from Luminus Technical University College in Jordan were organized to attend an innovative online course learning through Google Classroom. The quantitative analysis proved that Google classroom was an effective platform for enhancing the learners' writing achievements. However, the general problem with these studies was that the number of participants is few, limiting the generalizability of the results. Few people were selected as subjects albeit that it offered benefits such as small groups which were easy to control and conducive to experimental operation.

Despite the limitation, these findings were meaningful and applicable to this study since the research objects were the representative EFL learners.

Another limitation in this research area was the mixed variables, including technical problems and task settings. First, technical difficulties and lack of experience might affect the result of SNS improving learners' writing ability. Vurdien (2013) argued that some students had difficulties in completing tasks independently because they lacked editing ability. Kitchakarn (2014) had 35 participants who worked together to produce six pieces of writing assignments by providing comments, editing, and revising in a blogging group. The results revealed that blogging could contribute to support students' learning in the classroom and made their writing abilities enhanced. Nevertheless, the computer's technical difficulties (e.g., hardware failure and system instability) caused great interference to learners, as it was not convenient for some learners to work through social networking platforms.

The same problems were also found by Suadah (2014) in an exploratory case study, where 14 young participants who came from a high school in Turkey were asked to post two blogs each week in a term. Through blog posts, interviews and systematic observation, Suadah observed that blogging enhanced the students' writing skills, especially in terms of vocabulary enhancement and syntactic accuracy. However, some students expressed a negative perspective on the difficulty of posting blogs and the cost of time.

After comparison, it was found that the above three groups of experiments did not give learners any guidance on how to use the social networking website platforms before the test, among which some of the participants in Kitchakarn (2014) and Suadah's (2014) study had not used the specified SNS prior to study. Although the researchers controlled the variables of learners' experience (e.g., proficiency in using target SNS), learners without technical experience were

impeded in learning a language by using SNS, making acceptance of the research results unreliable.

Second, different task settings were likely to influence the EFL learners' writing abilities assisted by SNS. Saad *et al.* (2015) collected data through a research diary and focus group interviews with 22 students from the Lebanon target university. The findings reported that students learning EFL or ESL strengthened their writing abilities in the target language through social networking platforms. Saad *et al.* interpreted that blogs facilitated active participation and language practice, which could be the key point to improve learners' writing performance. In contrast, Vurdien (2013) believed that frequent writing did not necessarily improve writing skills. No matter how often they write, if students did not invest enough time in serious planning and writing, their progress might not always be noticed. This conflict arose from the setting of the research task. While the latter participants were asked to ensure accuracy when writing, learners in the former group did not have to face the pressure of writing accuracy, final scores and other people's comments, so they were able to complete the learning task easily.

To sum up, despite the limitations of a small number of population and mixed variables (technical problems, teacher intervention and task settings), the above literature review proved that SNS generally improved EFL learners' writing ability.

3.1.2 SNS as media for improving oral skills

Another strand of research on SNS-assisted L2TL argued that SNS could be the medium for improving EFL learners' oral skills but the intervention of individual differences (see below) needed to be noticed. Yen *et al.* (2015) conducted a role-playing instructional course for 42 EFL learners by integrating Facebook

and Skype as platforms. The evidence showed that both of the Facebook and Skype part of the teaching activity were a major factor in improving the spoken language. Similarly, Mompean and Fouz-González (2016) found the positive association between SNS and learners' oral ability. The researchers had 16 Spanish EFL students in Murcia (Spain) completed the Twitter-based teaching/learning task, which was designed for practicing pronouncing difficult words. They proved that twitter-based instruction improved the students' pronunciation of the target words.

Nevertheless, the individual gain rate between participants from pre-test to post-test showed a sizeable gap. The inconsistent effect of instruction meant that not everyone benefits equally. The authors interpreted that these individual variabilities in performance might depend on the student's ability, individual interests, learning environments (formal or informal), the size of the task and the involvement of the researcher. In other words, individual differences of student and researcher probably impacted the effects on EFL learners' oral skills.

Given this, the relationship between learners' participation and their pronunciation improvement was explored by Fouz-González (2017) in a similar work, where 121 Spanish students daily received a video or audio recording to illustrate how the target word sounds in the real context. However, Fouz-González (2017) stated that learners' engagement had little effect on their pronunciation improvement, although a positive correlation existed. Specifically, individual differences did not necessarily influence the results of SNS on learners' abilities, especially oral ability. One reason proposed by the researchers was the differences in the nature of participation in the two studies, with the latter participants having less incentive to learn spontaneously because of rewards.

Besides, the later work provided more concrete evidence for SNS to improve learners' oral ability with the support of experience. For example, in Sun's (2017) mobile SNS-based instruction program, 72 primary school students were allowed to complete and record the oral assignments with their parents' help by using a Chinese-based SNS focused on online audio. They indicated that both the control and experimental groups improved the oral abilities in terms of accuracy, fluency and pronunciation. However, the parental intervention could be a potential intervention, which might change students' learning environment, thus affecting the results of students' oral homework. Although not covered, Sun had begun to be aware of other personal differences, such as motivation among participants, access to English learning materials, and cognitive processes, which might be responsible for the differences in performance. Besides, Awada and Diab (2018) also reported their findings by doing Wiki and Google Earth-based instruction research. They asserted that Wiki and Google Earth was effective to enhance the learners' oral presentation skills when presenting their project.

In a word, the above studies provided evidence that SNS enhanced EFL\ESL learners' oral proficiency albeit that it should be stated that there were individual differences re levels of success among learners.

3.1.3 SNS as a tool for vocabulary acquisition

Another strand of research on SNS-assisted L2TL supported that SNS were effective tools for vocabulary acquisition. There was, however, some controversy. Mayumi (2013) did a Facebook project for Japanese University Students connecting with American university students. Mayumi found that students made progress on vocabulary knowledge in SNS-assisted learning, mainly supported by correction of errors by teachers. Although the finding is not the primary focus of Mayumi's research, it meant that the improvement of students' learning ability in SNS environment might be mediated by external factors (such as teachers). Therefore, it seems that students' success cannot be entirely attributed to SNS.

Subsequently, some studies provided relevant learning theories to support the effectiveness of SNS in vocabulary acquisition. Nikbakht and Boshrabadi (2015) used situated-learning theory to support the research results of learners' vocabulary knowledge improvement through SNS. In their analysis of students' work, they found that SNS allowed students to retain new words in an interactive environment as well as cultivate, understand and improve their learning in real situations. In the Saudi EFL classrooms with 100 female students, Raniah and Tariq (2018) presented evidence that YouTube technology enables improvement of learners' vocabulary comprehension and retention. This improvement could be explained by the cognitive theory of multimedia learning that YouTube videos provided a way of delivering information that catered to visual and auditory senses, which was more effective than a teacher's instruction. Specifically, SNS such as YouTube transformed the complex text into a concise map using images, symbols and highlights, which helped EFL learners more easily obtain and understand the key concepts and content of the teaching.

Except for the theoretical support (situated-learning theory and cognitive theory), follow-up studies used more sophisticated methods to demonstrate the role of SNS in promoting vocabulary acquisition and, as a consequence, made important recommendations. For instance, Cetinkaya and Sutcu (2018) conducted a comparative experiment where students were required to receive information and learn vocabulary regularly in three separate environments (Facebook, WhatsApp and traditional). They presented that although all the three learning environments had different effects on the increase of students'

vocabulary acquisition, the WhatsApp group was more effective. However, the difference between the Facebook group and the control group was not significant. Cetinkaya and Sutcu argued that this might be caused by some uncontrolled variables, e.g., the words might have been remembered to some extent, or the questions might have been remembered. Besides, some students hold a negative attitude towards untimely and unnecessary information as this were likely to distract their attention, affecting their grades. Simultaneously, Raniah and Tariq (2018) also noted the importance of the rational application of SNS. They suggested that teachers selected appropriate teaching materials and contents in the process of implementation, achieving maximum effectiveness in terms of improving students' abilities to learn the target language.

Although these facts were methodologically rigorous, there were still many obvious limitations. For example, Raniah and Tariq's research (2018) focused on a single-sex population and had as short a treatment period as Nikbakht and Boshrabadi (2015). Mayumi (2013) studied a small number of subjects. Nevertheless, they were quite rigorous in their approach and provide information for practice in relevant situations. Equally important, although this was not the focus of this study, there was a general implication that successful SNS-assisted L2TL might rely on complex interactions between vocabulary acquisition and learner variables. In other words, the most successful SNS-assisted instruction encouraged rapid acquisition, repeated practice, and long-term retention of words, but variables such as learner proficiency, cultural background, and course objectives may influence outcomes.

3.1.4 SNS as a space for intercultural communication

Another focus of SNS-assisted L2TL research recognized that SNS could enhance the learners' intercultural competence but present some challenges. For instance, Jin (2015) used Facebook for a telecollaboration project connecting Korean EFL learners with American undergraduate students. Based on Byram's (1997) model of intercultural competence (IC) and his (2000) assessment criteria, Jin (2015) found that Facebook provided EFL students with an online environment for cross-cultural communication with speakers of the target culture and offered more opportunities to learners in terms of discussing several intercultural topics with native speakers. Nevertheless, Jin discovered several challenges, including that learners reported not obtaining the correct knowledge, that some students were reluctant to change their perspectives to that of another culture, and that some learners misunderstood each other's words when learning different ways of communication between two cultures.

In a similar project, Hsu and Beasley (2019) also reported the challenges in his intercultural computer-media communication project where EFL learners in southern Taiwan interacted with native speakers in the US in small groups through emails and Skype. They found that although students had a positive attitude towards cross-cultural learning using SNS as part of the project, some students felt very uncomfortable meeting and chatting with strangers via Skype originally through shyness or fear. It was a common phenomenon that non-English users show a lack of confidence in their language skills when talking to native speakers. In the previous study, Özdemir (2017) has discovered this aspect on his Facebook and in-class discussion groups. Hsu and Beasley (2019) also found that individuals from different cultures discussing through SNS (Facebook) was more effective than group discussion in class in promoting learners' cross-cultural development.

Another point that could not be ignored was that some EFL learners could hold negative stereotypes towards their counterparts and culture because of the potential cultural conflicts between countries. Aligning with Hsu and Beasley's (2019) finding in learners' unwillingness to communicate with Americans, Wang

et al. (2017) stated that the fear of negative evaluation and prejudices (e.g., arrogance and sense of superiority) from Americans might be one of the main causes to non-English learners cross-cultural communication concerns. Thus, the new learning experience was quite challenging for EFL learners.

In brief, Jin (2015), Hsu (2019) and Ozdemir's (2017) research proved the positive effect of SNS on the intercultural competence of EFL learners. However, some limiting effects, such as anxiety and cultural conflicts, might affect the effectiveness of SNS-assisted learning, to some extent. Hsu (2019) argues that whether or not the communication features of SNS could significantly improve learners' IC might not be the focus, because SNS had been recognized as a feasible communication space where learners could conduct effective language training and cross-cultural communication.

3.1.5 Summary

In this chapter, the improvements in L2TL assisted by SNS were discussed in terms of knowledge and skills. To summarize, four key findings may have beneficial implications for pedagogical practice. First, SNS integrating into L2TL improved ESL\EFL learners' writing abilities in general, although it may be affected by teacher's intervention, technical problems and task setting. Second, SNS as a teaching medium enhanced ESL\EFL learners' oral skills despite the individual differences in learning effects. Third, SNS as an auxiliary tool had a positive effect on ESL\EFL learners' vocabulary acquisition, although variables such as learner proficiency, cultural background, and course objectives may influence outcomes. Fourth, SNS provided ESL\EFL learners with space for cross-cultural communication although anxiety and cultural conflicts may exist. While the early literature focused on researching the application of

computer technology or social media in education, these findings could benefit for recommending appropriate strategies to guide the ESL\EFL learners.

3.2 Two perspectives on using SNS for educational purposes

In the following chapters, academic literature which would analyze and interpret the characteristics of SNS and its relationship with learning and teaching from the perspectives of students and teachers would be reviewed. It mainly included seven aspects: (1) flexible access; (2) ease of use; (3) intrinsic motivation; (4) participation; (5) authentic language practice; (6) collaborative and communicative competence; (7) reduction of anxiety.

3.2.1 The perspectives of ESL\EFL learners on SNS

3.2.1.1 Flexible access

Numerous studies stated that ESL\EFL learners had a positive attitude towards flexible access to social networking sites when learning a language. As one of the distinctive features of SNS, it provided much convenience for learners both in study and at work.

The greatest advantage of SNS accessibility was that it was not limited by time and space. This meant that EFL learners could study more flexibly when supported by social networking platforms. Kitchakarn (2014) proved this view in his blogging groups. He stated that students felt more relaxed as they had more time to share and comment on the blog. Saad *et al.* (2015) added that SNS gave them extra time to study at their own pace and review knowledge endlessly. Meanwhile, a wiki project conducted by Aydin and Yildiz (2014) also presented similar findings, where 34 intermediate college students in English as a foreign language were asked to complete three wiki-based collaborative writing tasks in groups of four. After analyzing the students' responses in the focus-group interview, Aydin and Yildiz (2014) demonstrated that the participants enjoyed the collaborative work on the wiki-pages in which they were allowed to contribute to the assignments without any time or space restrictions.

Besides, SNS satisfied learners' desire to learn in an informal environment. For example, Erarslan (2019) explored the impact of Instagram as a supplement to formal courses on students' language learning process and college students' views on their educational purpose. In Erarslan's analysis, it was evidenced that Instagram increased students' exposure to language and other language learners out of the classroom. In other words, SNS provided additional opportunities for EFL learners to extend knowledge outside the classroom and offered an alternative way to do extra practice. Also, SNS created many virtual platforms for language learners worldwide, allowing them to achieve dialogues across time and space

Furthermore, the flexible accessibility of SNS was also reflected in support of online mobile learning. Aldukhayel (2019) had 389 EFL university students practicing listening through YouTube inside and outside the classroom. The mixed analysis revealed that students were willing to using YouTube in their learning process because it was public, and users had absolute control over the playback speed or the subtitles of videos. In addition, students could log in to their accounts from mobile devices, such as a phone, tablet or iPad, for seamless learning. This common point of view was found by Albashtawi and Al Bataineh's (2020) in the Google Classroom-based instruction program. The descriptive analysis of the students' perspectives on SNS showed that they were satisfied in terms of accessibility, as some students could log into Google Classroom on their mobile phones and quickly answered questions on this kind of SNS.

However, none of the studies mentioned the possible risks in accessing the SNS, such as incomplete access, unreliable websites, and personal information leakage, which should be taken seriously by instructors and administrators. Hence, teachers should test and ensure the safety and reliability of target learning social websites in advance and assist students in implementing them smoothly in practice.

Although previous research reports pointed out that integrating modern scientific and technological activities into language classrooms was not a magic bullet for effective teaching and learning (Simpson, 2012), it was undeniable that SNS did bring convenience to learners. It broke the shackles of time and space and achieved synchronous learning for learners in formal and informal environments.

3.2.1.2 Ease of use

The development of new technology has opened up endless possibilities for social network innovation. Most social networking sites have applied filters to process completely irrelevant social data (Nagulendra and Vassileva, 2015), presenting a concise and humanized interface for learners, especially children and the elderly. Besides, many social networking sites have attracted the attention of users with their personalized functionality, such as photo sharing in Facebook, the video-sharing Service in YouTube and Instant Messaging in Myspace, and they have integrated multiple functions with the reform of technology.

In addition to the functions of SNS itself, using SNS via mobile devices provided an easy way for learners to practice their English skills. Sun *et al.* (2017), for example, examined how mobile social networking enhances the young learners' English-speaking skills and found that this mobile-SNS' usefulness and ease of

use greatly reduce the technical difficulty for young children. Similar effectiveness of SNS was revealed by Albashtawi and AlBataineh (2020). They supported that Google classroom also had the above features and contributed to learners' reading and writing ability.

However, there were still a few technical questions raised in these experimental groups, mainly related to the stability of SNS or the students' mobile device hardware (Sun *et al.*, 2017). Therefore, teachers should ensure the availability of the network and equipment when applying SNS in foreign language teaching, and parents should be encouraged to offer technical guidance to young students when they study in informal learning environments.

3.2.1.3 Participation

Some academic studies agreed that the integration of SNS in foreign language learning can increase learners' participation and motivation. In the Facebook writing group organized by Razak *et al.* (2013), a sharp rise in participation of EFL learners' posted exchanges and comments revealed that SNS fostered interactive communities and students' engagement and helped them to improve writing skills. Razak *et al.* (2013) subsequently interpreted that this could be a sign of increasing interest and motivation of EFL learners to complete these writing activities. This was supported by Taskiran *et al.* (2018) in their program. 90 EFL learners from Anadolu University responded to the questionnaire asking their opinions on Twitter activity. In their analysis, the majority of students were actively involved in Twitter, which might give clues about their motivation to participate in extracurricular activities. Mompean and Fouz-González (2016), as proponents of SNS, noted that using Twitter for pronunciation instruction encouraged EFL learners' involvement out of intrinsic motivation, i.e., without rewards. There was also less pressure on them when

learning. However, one possible limitation of the study was that some of the researchers' interventions prevented learners from engaging more spontaneously because they were asked to "confirm" reading tweets during the activity. Although Mompean and Fouz-González's research confirmed that Twitter-based instruction assisted students' pronunciation of the target language, it was less convincing in terms of increasing participants' participation in SNS.

Although most EFL students in the above study admitted that the use of SNS in foreign language learning could enhance their participation, it did not mean that the increase in participation has a positive effect on learning. For instance, Yen *et al.* (2015) conducted role-playing activities about Facebook and Skype as learning tools in enhancing learners' writing and speaking skills. The results showed that even if Skype promoted learning, the high level of Skype participation did not lead to better oral learning effects. An explanation is given by Yen *et al.* (2015) that due to the need for immediate response in the speaking activities on Skype, participants who responded quickly paid attention to the fluency of language expression but neglected the accuracy of grammar and pronunciation.

In a word, integrating SNS in EFL learning and teaching fostered learners' participation and advanced the learners' interest or motivation. More details between SNS and learners' motivation would be specifically analyzed in the next section (2.1.4 Intrinsic motivation). However, learners' positive participation did not result in their improvements of knowledge or skills in SNS-assisted learning.

3.2.1.4 Intrinsic motivation

What was the definition of motivation? And how did it arise? Motivation referred to encourage and sustain the process of goal-directed activity, and motivational processes were "personal/internal factors that leaded to outcomes such as choice, effort, persistence, achievement, and environmental regulation" (Schunk and DiBenedetto, 2020:1). Motivation was divided into intrinsic and extrinsic motivation, the former was defined as doing an activity for inner satisfaction (e.g., curiosity, interest and demand) (Ryan and Deci, 2000), while the latter referred to doing activities that were stimulated by external circumstances (e.g., parents' encouragement, teachers' criticism). Generally, intrinsic motivation was seen as a natural source of learning and achievement. It was not the only shape of motivation, but a universal and important form. Although intrinsic motivation existed within individuals, Ryan and Deci (2000) believed that intrinsic motivation existed in the relationship between individuals and activities, because certain activities probably stimulated people's internal motivation. Oudeyer et al. gave another explanation for the intrinsic motivation. Based on psychology, neuroscience and computational learning theory, Oudeyer et al. (2016) found that brain neural circuits regarded information as an intrinsic reward, and therefore actively seek out novel, complex and predictive errors. They regarded this conclusion as an important basis for educational practice and educational technology design and strongly recommended that students should be offered learning materials with attractive information when fostering their memory retention.

Because of the informative, novel, and challenging features of SNS, this computer technology has been successfully used in foreign language learning to attract the attention of users, especially young learners. Many studies presented that computer-assisted learning could enhance students' motivation (Nachoua, 2012; Anwaruddin and Sardar 2013; Tavakoli *et al.*, 2019), and

motivation played a key role in improving language acquisition and performance in other subjects (Kavita, 2014; Cerasoli *et al.*, 2014).

In this study, three reasons for SNS in promoting the personal motivation of EFL learners were found. Firstly, SNS created an interesting learning atmosphere and stimulates their learning interest as well as curiosity. Raniah and Tariq (2018) explored the effectiveness of YouTube in multimedia instruction for vocabulary learning. It stated that integrating YouTube videos into the traditional classroom provided an attractive and interesting learning environment and raised their interest and motivated them to study faster. Mayumi (2013) agreed with Raniah and Tariq's opinion and presented that using Facebook in an exchange project inspired Japanese EFL learners' curiosity to learn more about an English speaking country's culture, history and lifestyles. These researchers reached a consensus that in the enjoyable and entertaining atmosphere created by SNS, learners were naturally motivated to access novel learning materials and interact with real native speakers.

The second strand for SNS in developing the personal motivation of EFL learners was that SNS provided a risk-free learning environment that allowed learners to practice more freely. For instance, Rodliyah (2016) had 15 EFL students from a university in Bandung writing daily journals in a Facebook group. After analysis of their journals and responses to peers, Rodliyah (2016) demonstrated that keeping a diary through a closed group on Facebook increased students' motivation to write, as Facebook provides a fun and non-threatening environment where students were free to express their thoughts and feelings. Hence, they felt safe and motivated when posting their work. These findings were in line with previous research by Kitchakarn (2014) that EFL learners were enthusiastic when commenting on a blog because they were more focused on writing fluency rather than accuracy, thus writing more freely. However, Saad (2015) disagreed with the opinion of Rodliyah and Kitchakarn that learners

could practice the language more easily in such an environment. The researcher interpreted that blogs developed students' critical thinking to a certain extent, and students ought to provide clear and logical support in the face of different perspectives offered by peers in order to make peers convinced (Saad, 2015). Even if blogs did offer a non-threatening environment to learners to practice their target language, they still needed to be careful about responding to peers.

The third explanation about SNS enhancing EFL learners' motivation was that practicing a foreign language through SNS achieved the real purpose of communication. Habul-Šabanović (2015) conducted a blog out-of-class project where 52 female bachelor level students were encouraged to do some individual research at home for further discussion through blogs, based on what they did in class. After analyzing a post-project questionnaire, the researcher indicated that students were more motivated and interested in learning when having a real, rich, and regular communication with classmates. Nevertheless, the results of this study could only partially prove that SNS stimulated EFL learners' motivation, as it was only limited to female users. The participants in Zou's (2016) wiki-based writing collaboration program also hold similar perspectives that they are highly motivated to work with British university students on the Wiki, where they achieved the goal of communicating with native speakers in using the target language. Bandura's social cognitive theory could serve as the theoretical support for this statement, in which goals were considered to be an important factor affecting one's motivation. Schunk and DiBenedetto (2020:2) stated that "a goal was a mental representation of what one was attempting to attain." Specifically, when learners observed and assessed their progress towards goals, the difference between goals and perceived progress leaded to the necessary effort and persistence. Thus, when EFL learners found that SNS helped them communicate in the target language,

this mental representation drove them to use SNS in foreign language training to achieve their purpose.

Using SNS in foreign language learning stimulated EFL learners' internal motivation in terms of satisfying curiosity and interests and achieving learning goals, thereby realizing real language interaction.

3.2.1.5 Authentic language practice

Another positive characteristic of EFL learners was that they were willing to use social networking sites in their foreign language learning because it allowed them to practice English in a real context. For example, in Saad *et al.* (2015) assisted Intensive English Program, he pointed out that blogs, as a supplemental tool, provided a real language communication environment for students to practice in. This was consistent with what Zou *et al.* (2016) found in their study that working on Wiki was an effective way for students to achieve authentic language practice.

The way of practicing a foreign language through SNS accorded with the theory of situated learning. The disadvantages of traditional foreign language learning was shown in several ways, including focusing on one aspect of the language, acquiring indirect and abstract knowledge which was sometimes irrelevant for the learner, and experiencing language practice in the classroom (Jakubiak, 2016). However, situated learning allowed students to make full use of the context and "to pay attention to the right thing in a myriad of situated experiences" (Gee, 2004:106), and encouraged them to generalize and form their own views. Computers and mobile technologies provided learners with more access to real context and facilitated interaction between groups (Comas-Quinn, 2009). In Zou's experiment, 32 EFL students from China took writing training on the Wiki and received feedback from their language

partners (the UK students) about their essays. When correcting the errors, students on both sides kept communicating with each other, and the learning process has expanded from the classroom to real life.

Saad *et al.*'s findings confirmed other researchers' perspectives regarding the authentic context for foreign language learning. Early research published by Razak *et al.* (2013) stated that Facebook groups could empower students to link with their personal experience to use it in an authentic and personalized context, thus improving their skills in English. In Sun's mobile-SNS learning project, children enjoyed learning through Papa because they could find something familiar and favorite that assisted them in deepening the impression of the target word. Sun *et al.* (2017) suggested that SNS integrate into ESL\EFL teaching allowed the participation in real situations and made learning fun. A current research conducted by Aldukhayel (2019) also echoed those studies, and stated that vlog-assisted listening program offered an authentic L2 aural input context in which learners enhanced listening abilities.

In brief, opposed to traditional language pedagogy, SNS provided personalized and contextualized access to learning resources, making it possible to learn language scenes in real life.

3.2.1.6 Collaborative and communicative competence

Another theme of this research showed that SNS a social community for learners to improve their social and collaborative skills through communication.

Among them, the main characteristics of SNS were to provide EFL learners with opportunities in information sharing and self-expression. For example, Mayumi (2013) observed much interaction between Japanese students and American learners in a Facebook exchange project. They stated that these social

networking platforms established a space in which English learners shared their thoughts and understand cultural differences through publishing articles as well as comments. At the same time, Razak *et al.* (2013) hold a similar view that learning in such online communities did contribute to communicating, socializing, sharing information and developing a sense of belonging to the community. Moreover, research implemented by Rodliyah (2016) stated that having frequent conversations in the Facebook group helped EFL students to get familiar with partners and learn from each other. Taskiran *et al.* (2018) further suggested that Twitter as an extracurricular activity allowed learners to use casual language, promoting social interaction between peers, and thus aiding communicative competence. These researchers agreed that exchanging feelings and opinions in SNS helped EFL learners establish a good relationship and realized a more meaningful interaction between learner-learner and learner-teacher.

Secondly, the technology and characteristics of SNS promoted and produced effective English learning communications. AbuSa'aleek (2015) did a questionnaire for 65 participants to explore their attitude towards learning English in the Facebook context. The quantitative study indicated that the specialized English learning groups in Facebook supported exchange, synchronous and asynchronous communication, and social interaction since they offered regular updates of grammar, vocabulary, and new information to their members. A study from the same period also reported relevant conclusions that these social networking sites, especially Facebook, allowed EFL students repetitive exposure to the target words in a collaborative learning context, consequently promoting their communicative performance (Nikbakht and Boshrabadi, 2015).

However, several researchers had different views on how SNS improves communication skills. Chao and Lo (2011) conducted a questionnaire to

investigate students' perceptions of Wiki-based collaborative writing. The researchers found that although Wiki facilitated the interaction between peer review and peer editing, the five-stage computer-mediated collaborative writing project in the experiment interfered with student interaction as it required participants to review and edit during the activity, as well as involving frequent peer interaction. Vurdien (2013) contradicted that even if the students were to participate in cooperation projects to promote the development of collaborative skills, the credit cannot be completely attributed to SNS. Because all members in the whole research team were required to involved in the exchange of opinions, and the task needed to be negotiated and modified under the guidance of the tutor to reach the final agreement. Similarly, students in Habul-Šabanovi's (2015) research complained that the blog as an extracurricular activity forced students to spend extra time in preparing a purposeful communication. Therefore, we cannot make a decisive judgment on SNS enhancement in above cooperative tasks, as these task designs affected students' spontaneous learning to some extent and may lead to inauthentic interactions. Real interaction needed to depend on students' willingness to share information and switch roles between tasks. Further research needed to explore how task design affects the effect of SNS on EFL learners' performance.

Despite the controversy, most literature listed above had strong points that learning English in SNS contributed to the improvement of collaboration and communicative competence. However, the influence of task-design on students' willingness to interact could not be ignored.

3.2.1.7 Reduction of anxiety

EFL learners might feel nervous or even anxious when communicating with

others in a foreign language in public. Sun *et al.* (2017) have revealed that mobile-based SNS use enabled reduce anxiety when EFL practice was spoken-English. These findings were supported by Kaid and Rashad (2019) in a WhatsApp-based English learning project that SNS leaded to reduced anxiety in learners and provided a less stressful learning environment. Not surprisingly, high-level foreign language anxiety was a common problem for those learning English. Even after having studied the language since primary school, Chow *et al.* (2018) indicated in a survey of 510 Chinese students' projects that at least one third felt moderately or highly language anxiety in English classrooms.

In the study of Sun *et al.* (2017), participants had the opportunity to familiarize themselves with the target social networking platforms before the project began, which seemed to reduce the embarrassment, shyness and fear of face-to-face online communication. They also found that language anxiety affected learners' oral expression ability, and the use of SNS can effectively reduced the anxiety of EFL learners, thus improving their oral performance. In line with Sun et al., Erarslan (2019) stated that social networking platforms were beneficial for timid students to express their views, and no longer felt embarrassed when making mistakes in discussions or comments. Previously, Yen et al. (2015) also discovered evidence similar to Sun et al., pointing out that highly advanced familiarity with these communication tools enabled participants to focus on the target language rather than generate additional anxiety due to technology-related stress. In contrast to Sun et al. (2017), however, Yen et al. (2015) did not comment on the effect of SNS use on learners' anxiety. This might be because there was an intervention in their program, role-playing activities, which have been designed to reduce learner anxiety, so it was not possible to determine the relationship between SNS and foreign language anxiety.

To sum up, the usage of SNS in EFL learning decreased the degree of language

anxiety. A recommendation for English teachers was to use software that students were familiar with or instructed students on how to operate in situations that were new to them.

3.2.2 Using SNS in ESL\EFL pedagogy: Attitudes and roles of teachers

Teachers generally believed that using SNS in language courses was beneficial for EFL students, but was still had some challenges. For example, Raniah and Tarig (2018) utilized a questionnaire to explore four non-native English-speaking female teachers' views on the application of YouTube in multimedia vocabulary teaching. The researchers confirmed teachers' positive views that SNS enhanced student involvement in the teaching and learning process. In addition, the teachers involved in the study agreed that the integration of YouTube in English teaching could improve students' retention and understanding of the target vocabulary. This was supported by the research results of Aldukhayel (2019), that was, video blogging has a significant impact on vocabulary knowledge. Aldukhayel (2019) continued to add that, through the analysis of interviews, all teacher participants recognized the role of blogging on the improvement in listening and pronunciation, as it adopted popular and easy-to-understand daily spoken-language that was suitable for learners at all stages. However, as social networking sites generally contain a large number of diverse learning resources (e.g., digital videos and audios, data files and online communication system), how to combine online resources with traditional pedagogy was a major problem for modern language teachers. Aldukhayel (2019) suggested that language teachers ought to pay more attention to what types of video blogging they chose for students' classes. What they choose should be based on students' interest and proficiency, as it could greatly motivate them to learn better. Besides, the technical ability of teachers was also closely related to the effectiveness of using SNS. Teachers in

Raniah and Tariq's (2018) research reached a consensus that training about how to use SNS effectively in curricula should be given, which helped instructors maximize the presentation of the most useful lessons to the students based on the target content.

Although SNS played a great role in English teaching, it could not completely replace the position of language teachers in the curriculum. Habul - Šabanovi (2015) pointed out that teachers played a new role in the process of SNS-assisted learning, that was, a transformation from the original information disseminators into students' facilitators and mentors. This finding was consistent with the learner-centered ideology; that was, students enabled learn independently according to their own needs and interests, while teachers were only regarded as observers and assistants to help them achieve their final goals (Schiro, 2013). As Saad et al. (2015) found, teachers acted as a motivator, encouraging students to actively read short stories on blogs and freely communicate with each other to express their ideas. At the same time, a teacher was more like a friend, who had equal opportunities to comment with students in such a popular online community, and even had a public or private communication with students (Rodliyah, 2016). In particular, in the cultural exchange program, Raniah and Tariq (2018) stressed the importance of teachers to the development of students, because teachers were able to defuse possible misunderstandings and prejudices in terms of language and culture among students from different countries, helping them build a harmonious relationship, and progressing English knowledge and skills.

Overall, language teachers universally approved that SNS-assisted teaching improved L2 in various aspects, including the memory and understanding of vocabulary, listening and pronunciation. What's more, teachers played an irreplaceable role in SNS-assisted instruction, helping, supporting and encouraging students to achieve the improvement of foreign language in all

aspects. An important suggestion was that the effective use of SNS in English teaching needed to be based on the combination of computer abilities of language teachers, students' interests and demands, and teachers' intervention in the teaching process.

3.3 Summary

In this chapter, 8 pieces of evidence of the effectiveness of SNS in ESL\EFL learning and teaching were analyzed in terms of: the features of SNS; the application of SNS in English learning and instruction, and the views of students and teachers on SNS. To conclude, most students and teachers hold a positive attitude toward the application of SNS in L2TL. The main findings included the following eight aspects: (1) SNS had the feature of flexible access and ease of use, but existed the risk of personal privacy disclosure and potential technical problems; (2) SNS stimulated ESL\EFL learners' interest and curiosity, and improved their intrinsic motivation and participation; (3) SNS provided ESL\EFL learners with a real language learning environment; (4) in the context of reasonable task-design, using SNS in L2TL could improve ESL\EFL learners' collaboration and communication abilities; (5) compared with the traditional learning environment, the degree of anxiety of learners in SNS-assisted learning environment was relatively low; (6) teachers played an important role in SNS-assisted instruction, and they generally believed that SNS could enhance ESL\EFL learners' English abilities in all aspects. Next, we would discuss and summarize this evidence, provided suggestions for the implementation of SNS in foreign language education, and for future research and practice.

4. DISCUSSION AND RECOMMENDATION

The main purpose of this paper is to explore the effectiveness of social networking sites (SNS) for ESL\EFL teaching and learning(L2TL), as well as the perspectives of ESL\EFL students and teachers on this educational purpose. The results have shown that SNS involvement seems to have a positive effect on ESL\EFL students' learning new knowledge and skills, including improvement in writing, speaking, and vocabulary acquisition, which is echoed in other studies (Sun and Yang, 2013; Naghdipour and Eldridge, 2016; Talakoub, 2018). The review also has pointed out that the ease of use and flexibility of SNS stimulate students' intrinsic motivation and increase their engagement in learning, which is Alberth's (2018) an important point. Besides, compared with traditional foreign language teaching, the review also has suggested that SNS provide a relaxed and real language learning environment for learners, and have the potential to promote learners' cooperative, communicative and cross-cultural abilities.

Research on SNS in L2TL to date has utilized a variety of learning theories, especially situated-learning, learner-centered, social cognitive theory, as well as research methodologies and techniques, including discourse analysis, quantitative or qualitative data analysis and mixed-method analysis. As practices mature, they are expected to promote theoretical development and methodological innovation in their related fields, including new media research, educational technology, computer science and technology.

However, due to the limitations of many studies in the literature review, including the small number of researchers and the small scope of research

objects, it is difficult to draw a definitive conclusion on the impact of social networks on learning. Other critical reviews of social networking sites for language learning and teaching have also reported similar limitations (Hattem and Lomicka, 2016; Alnujaidi, 2017; Barrot, 2018) They have concluded that the evidence for learning through SNS lacked generalizability. Therefore, we need more targeted and robust research aimed at a broader population, using effective tools to measure and establish causal relationships between SNS use and learning, to enhance our understanding of these online tools.

Also, this paper has proposed that technical constraints, privacy restrictions, task design, learners' needs, and social user anxiety are the main challenges of the application of SNS in L2TL. These intervention factors singly or synthetically affect the effect of SNS on ESL\EFL education.

A few of the literature examined in the review indicated the impact of technical constraints and network risks on learning. Regarding computer technology, the instability of network and SNS and computer hardware failure are the main problems that plague students in online foreign language education. Difficult-to-operate SNS tends to erode the enthusiasm and patience of beginners in online English learning and hinder their learning progress, thus negatively affecting the learning effect. Thus, school administrators should unite technical experts to strictly select reliable, stable, and easy-to-use SNS as teaching tools, and lay a foundation for providing effective SNS-assisted English classes for students. Furthermore, teachers or parents must give technical guidance in practice for young learners who lack editing skills or experience in using social networks.

It should not be overlooked in either research or practice that all local SNS, and the vast majority of educational SNS, are usually commercial enterprises. Researchers have faced challenges by the rapid changes of research objectives as SNS produce, incorporate new functions and fall in and out of fashion,

particularly in solving personal privacy problems and in accessing, collecting and managing data. Hence, they should be subject to test and evaluate by professional technical teams under the jurisdiction of the government.

An intersection existed between task design issues and innovative technologies. Certain SNS in the review have special potentials, such as wikis for collaborative learning, and Facebook and Blogs for situated-learning, they can be made full use of through careful task design. Nevertheless, with the rapid development of technology, researchers and educators should reflect on whether the intervention of target SNS can meet the real use of learners. For example, some students use SNS only for socializing with target language speakers, while others use them for obtaining additional specialized knowledge. These are authentic purposes of learners in foreign language learning and may cause difficulties in the development of a task-based curriculum. The review supported Gonzalez-Lloret (2017) 's view that the choice of technology or SNS in ESL\EFL classrooms should be consistent with students' multiple wishes and desires for topics and activities in class.

Another revelation for faculty or educators is that task design in SNS-assisted instruction should conform to a core principle, namely, a student-centered teaching philosophy. Technological innovation brings us more diversity in what we do, so teaching tasks may become complicated and ambiguous during the design process, which is not conducive to guiding students to achieve their learning goals. When incorporating SNS into the ESL\EFL classroom settings, instructors should persistently put students in the first place, and design an instruction scheme that meets the needs of most students by combining different students' interests, cultural background, practical ability and learning objectives.

Social anxiety may be an underlying problem of social networking platforms for ESL\EFL education purposes. Although the literature review provides a sign for

SNS in reducing learners' anxiety, more studies have shown that SNS use is positively associated with users' negative emotions (Rosen, 2013; Fox, 2015; Seabrook, 2016). Jones (2016) has confirmed that an increase in the frequency of social networking sites would lead to an increase in anxiety or depression. Calancie *et al.* (2017) also have revealed several stressors of users, covering fear of being judged, seeking approval, unwillingness to compare with peers, and desire for privacy. Understanding this latent theme can help foreign language teachers and parents to instantly identify the pressure source for ESL\EFL learners in SNS-assisted learning, and provide strategies for them to use social networks.

Besides, some implications for future research and practice have been put forward by the researchers:

(1) Because of the diverse features and functions offered by SNS, educators should explore other popular platforms such as Linkedin and Myspace, even though Facebook, Wiki and Blogging have been widely utilized for learning in the linguistic education literature. This will provide important insights into how foreign language learners can use these digital tools to improve their knowledge and skills throughout their learning lives.

(2) The learning context also needs to be described in detail. The powerful description of where these SNS play a role and how they blur the line between formal and informal learning was left out in this study, a gap noticed elsewhere. Researchers need to further explore the relationship between SNS-assisted learning environment and learning outcomes to improve the quality, reproducibility, and transparency of educational research.

(3) Most usages of social networking sites in this article took place under the supervision and guidance of teachers. Educators could encourage students to learn L2 to co-design, run and evaluate their educational activities on SNS,

which might promote learning (O'Connor *et al.*, 2018).

(4) The involvement of SNS in traditional ESL\EFL classrooms means that teachers need to have strong computer application ability and editing ability. Institutions should provide training and professional development for teachers to enhance their SNS capabilities and promote their SNS application in teaching practices (Alnujaidi, 2017).

(5) Institutions should encourage to development of a reward and punishment system, which not only encourages and motivates exploration, communication, critical thinking and risk-taking of SNS but also monitor and evaluates ESL/EFL teachers and students when SNS integrating into their practices.

5. CONCLUSION

Social networking sites (SNS) like Facebook and Twitter in education are no longer a new phenomenon. In recent years, an increasing number of studies have been published to explore the effectiveness of SNS in English as second or foreign language teaching and learning (L2TL). This article presents a critical review from 31 studies, which aimed at synthesizing the evidence of the effectiveness of SNS in L2TL. The improvement of EFL learners' knowledge and abilities in SNS-assisted learning in this review was found, including vocabulary acquisition, writing skills, oral performance, and intercultural communication and collaboration ability.

Combining with the main characteristics of SNS, this study also produce evidence from the perspective of students and teachers that SNS support L2TL. SNS have the potential to provide a more authentic language communication environment and more interactive experience, as they can not only stimulate students' personal motivation to improve learning but also promote their participation.

However, some gaps have not been uncovered by the original research, particularly in terms of technical glitches, personal privacy and social anxiety. Despite these hidden troubles, the attitude toward social networking sites as a supplementary tool for L2TL stills approves.

One of the contributions of this study is to adopt the subject analysis, combining quantitative, hybrid, and qualitative results to reflect current

evidence of social networking services in English as second or foreign language education. Another contribution is that guide the design and delivery of SNS-based L2 instruction for educators. Most implications in this review emerge from learner style, relevant pedagogy or learning theory, and the interaction between digital media and task design, which benefit instructors to explore more potential of SNS and maximize their roles in EFL education.

However, some limitations of this review may decrease the generalizability of the results. First of all, the foreign language or second language involved in this review is English only, and the results may not apply to other foreign language education. Second, only English language literature was searched, which may have reduced the number of potentially relevant studies. Third, secondary information sources such as literature reviews, descriptive and critical articles and thesis are excluded, which may omit some related studies. Fourth, the population distribution of primary research is mainly from adolescents or young adults, and the evidence from children and middle-aged and old learners are probably missing. Therefore, some age differences in EFL education may be absent from the reviewed findings. Finally, the included studies are heterogeneous, which means that differences in the impact of qualitative or quantitative analysis on research results may be ignored.

To sum up, although critical analysis has come up with some potential research flaws and gaps, the shortcomings of the original research can also be considered a valuable negative effect, preventing future researchers who wish to study the subject from repeating the same defects. Besides, some important findings also reveal the role of social networking sites in English as a second or foreign language teaching and learning.

REFERENCES

- AbuSa'aleek, A.O. (2015) 'Students' perceptions of English language learning in the Facebook context', *Teaching English with Technology*, 15 (4), 60-75.
- Albashtawi, A.H. and Al Bataineh, K.B. (2020) 'The effectiveness of Google classroom among EFL students in Jordan: An innovative teaching and learning online platform', *International journal of emerging technologies in learning*, 15 (11), 78.
- Alberth (2018) 'Use of Facebook, students' intrinsic motivation to study writing, writing self-efficacy and writing performance', *Technology, pedagogy and education*, 28 (1), 21-36.
- Aldukhayel, D. (2019) 'Vlogs in L2 listening: EFL learners' and teachers' perceptions', *Computer assisted language learning*, 1-20.
- Alhabash, S. and Ma, M. (2017) 'A tale of four platforms: Motivations and uses of Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, and Snapchat among college students?', *Social Media* + *Society*, 3 (1), 1-10.
- Alshenqeeti, H. (2018) 'Technology in the language classroom: How social media is changing the way EFL is taught', *Arab World English Journal*, 4 (4), 55-68.

- Alrabai, F. (2016) 'The Effects of teachers' in-class motivational intervention on learners' EFL achievement', *Applied linguistics*, 37 (3), 307-333.
- Alnujaidi, S. (2017) 'Social network sites as ESL/EFL learning and teaching tools: A critical review', International journal of applied linguistics & English literature, 6 (3), 34-42.
- Amiryousefi, M. and Geld, R. (2019) 'The role of redressing teachers' instructional feedback interventions in EFL learners' motivation and achievement in distance education', *Innovation in language learning and teaching*, 1-13.
- Anwaruddin and Sardar M. (2013) 'Web 2.0 and language learners' motivation: An action research study", *Canadian Journal of Action Research*, 14 (1), 51-68.
- Awada, G. and Diab, H. B. (2018) 'The effect of Google Earth and Wiki Models on oral Presentation skills of University EFL learners', *International Journal of Teaching and Learning in Higher Education*, 30 (1), 36-46.
- Aydin, Z. and Yildiz, S. (2014) 'Using wikis to promote collaborative EFL writing', Language, Learning & Technology, 18 (1), 160.
- Baralt, M. (2011) 'The use of social networking sites for language practice and learning', Ilha do Desterro A Journal of English Language (Literatures in English and Cultural Studies), (60), 277-304.
- Barrot, J.S. (2018) 'Facebook as a learning environment for language teaching and learning: A critical analysis of the literature from 2010 to 2017', *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 34 (6), 863-875.
- Beauvois, M.H. (1992) 'Computer-assisted classroom discussion in the foreign language classroom: Conversation in slow motion', *Foreign Language*

Annals, 25 (5), 455-464.

- Berlanga, A.J., Kalz, M., Stoyanov, S., Rosmalen, P.v., Smithies, A. and Braidman, I. (2011) 'Technologies to support formative feedback', *Journal* of Educational Technology & Society, 14 (4), 11-20.
- Bicen, H., Sadıkoglu, S. and Sadıkoglu, G. (2015) 'The impact of social networks on undergraduate students learning foreign language', *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 186, 1045-1049.
- British Educational Research Association [BERA] (2018) Ethical Guidelines for Educational Research, fourth edition, London. Available from: <u>https://www.bera.ac.uk/publication/ethical-guidelines-for-educational-r</u> <u>esearch-2018-online#intro</u>
- Blyth, A. (2015) 'Social media ethics in English language teaching', *JALT CALL Journal*, 11 (2), 165-176.
- Calancie, O., Ewing, L., Narducci, L.D., Horgan, S. and Khalid-Khan, S. (2017) 'Exploring how social networking sites impact youth with anxiety: A qualitative study of Facebook stressors among adolescents with an anxiety disorder diagnosis', *Cyberpsychology*, 11 (4).
- Carr, C.T. and Hayes, R.A. (2015) 'Social media: Defining, developing, and divining,' Atlantic Journal of Communication: Social Media Circa 2035: Directions in Social Media Theory, 23(1), 46-65.
- Carrier, M. (1985) 'Computer-assisted language learning', *ELT journal*, 39 (2), 131-134.

- Cerasoli, C.P., Nicklin, J.M. and Ford, M.T. (2014) 'Intrinsic motivation and extrinsic incentives jointly predict performance: A 40-year meta-analysis', *Psychological bulletin*, 140 (4), 980-1008.
- Çetinkaya, L. and Sütçü, S.S. (2018) 'The effects of Facebook and WhatsApp on success in English vocabulary instruction', *Journal of computer assisted learning*, 34 (5), 504-514.
- Chao, Y.J. and Lo, H. (2011) 'Students' perceptions of Wiki-based collaborative writing for learners of English as a foreign language', *Interactive Learning Environments*, 19(4): 395-411.
- Chapelle, C. and Jamieson, J. (1986) 'Computer-assisted language learning as a predictor of success in acquiring English as a second language', *TESOL Quarterly*, 20 (1), 27-46.
- Chen, T. (2016) 'Technology-supported peer feedback in ESL/EFL writing classes: a research synthesis', *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, 29 (2), 365-397.
- Chow, B.W., Chiu, H.T. and Wong, S.W.L. (2018) 'Anxiety in reading and listening English as a foreign language in Chinese undergraduate students', *Language Teaching Research*, 22 (6), 719-738.
- Ciampa, K. (2014) 'Learning in a mobile age: an investigation of student motivation', Journal of Computer Assisted Learning, 30(1), 82-96.
- Cohen, L., Manion, L., Morrison, K., Bell, R., Martin, S., McCulloch, G., O'Sullivan, C. and Ebooks Corporation Limited. (2011) 'Coding and content analysis.' In: *Research methods in education*, Seventh edn, Routledge, London, 572-573.
- Comas-Quinn, A., Mardomingo, R. and Valentine, C. (2009) 'Mobile blogs in language learning: making the most of informal and situated learning

opportunities', ReCALL (Cambridge, England), 21 (1), 96-112.

- Cooper, H. (1986) 'The integrative research review: A systematic approach sage publications: Beverly Hills, 1984, 143 pp', *Educational Researcher*, 15 (8), 17-18.
- Cynthia J. W. (2017) Distance language teaching with technology, In: Chapelle, C.A., Sauro, S. (ed.) *The handbook of technology and second language teaching and learning*, John Wiley & Sons, Inc, Hoboken, NJ.
- Dizon, G. (2016) 'A comparative study of Facebook vs. paper-and-pencil writing to improve L2 writing skills', *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, 29 (8), 1249-1258.
- Ellison, N. B., boyd, d. (2013). Sociality through social network sites. In Dutton,W. H. (Ed.), *The Oxford handbook of Internet studies*, Oxford, UK: OxfordUniversity Press.
- Erarslan, A. (2019) 'Instagram as an education platform for EFL learners', *Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology - TOJET*, 18 (3), 54-69.
- Favier, F., Fynn, J. and Misson, M. (2007) 'Introducing wireless networking technologies as a teaching tool for foreign languages: a multimedia laboratory experiment', ACM, 87-92.
- Fox, J. and Moreland, J.J. (2015) 'The dark side of social networking sites: An exploration of the relational and psychological stressors associated with Facebook use and affordances', *Computers in human behavior*, 45, 168-176.

Fouz-González, J. (2017) 'Pronunciation instruction through Twitter: the case

of commonly mispronounced words', *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, 30 (7), 631-663.

Gee, J.P. and ProQuest (Firm) (2004) 'Situated language and learning: a critique of traditional schooling', Routledge, London;New York;.

- Golonka, E.M., Bowles, A.R., Frank, V.M., Richardson, D.L. and Freynik, S. (2014) 'Technologies for foreign language learning: a review of technology types and their effectiveness', *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, 27 (1), 70-105.
- González-Lloret M. (2017) 'Technology and task-based language teaching.' In: Thorne S., May S. (eds) Language, *Education and Technology*. Encyclopedia of Language and Education (3rd ed.). Springer, Cham.
- Habul-Šabanović, I. (2015) 'Using blogs to promote student interaction and learning in EFL classes', *Epiphany. Journal of Transdisciplinary Studies*, 8 (2), 9-22.
- Hattem, D. and Lomicka, L. (2016) 'What the Tweets say: A critical analysis of Twitter research in language learning from 2009 to 2016', *E-Learning and Digital Media*, 13 (1-2), 5-23.
- Houston, M (2019) Secondary data and ethical issues. Available from: <u>https://www.gla.ac.uk/media/Media_666095_smxx.pdf</u> (Last accessed 17th July 2019).
- Hsu, S.Y and Beasley, R. E. (2019) 'The effects of international email and Skype interactions on computer-mediated communication perceptions and

attitudes and intercultural competence in Taiwanese students', Australasian Journal of Educational Technology, 35 (1), 149-162.

- Huang, H. (2015) 'From web-based readers to voice bloggers: EFL learners' perspectives', *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, 28 (2), 145-170.
- Huang, Y. and Chuang, T. (2016) 'Technology-assisted sheltered instruction: instructional streaming video in an EFL multi-purpose computer course', *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, 29 (3), 618-637.
- Jahansouz Shahi, M.A. (2016) 'The impact of E-learning on improving Iranian EFL learners' language skills: decreasing learning anxiety', *Journal of fundamental and applied sciences*, 8 (3), 261.
- Jakubiak, O. (2016) 'The pros and cons of problem-based learning compared to the traditional foreign language teaching methods", *Pedagogika*, 1 (25), 313-322.
- Jin, S. (2015) 'Using Facebook to promote Korean EFL learners' intercultural competence', *Language learning & technology*, 19 (3), 38.
- Jones, J.R., Colditz, J.B., Shensa, A., Sidani, J.E., Lin, L.Y., Terry, M.A. and Primack, B.A. (2016) 'Associations between internet-based professional social networking and emotional distress', *Cyberpsychology, behavior and social networking*, 19 (10), 61-608.
- Joop, J. H. and Hennie, R.B. (2005) 'Data collection, Primary vs. Secondary', Encyclopedia of Social Measurement, 1, 593-599.
- Kaid Mohammed Ali, J. and Rashad Ali Bin-Hady, W. (2019) 'A study of EFL students' attitudes, motivation and anxiety towards WhatsApp as a language learning tool', *Arab world English journal*, 5 (5), 289-298.

- Kavita, K. S. (2014). 'Motivational beliefs and academic achievement of university students', Journal of Research & Method in Education, 4 (1), 1-3.
- Kessler, G. (2018) 'Technology and the future of language teaching', *Foreign Language Annals*, 51 (1), 205-218.
- Khan, S.M. (2015) 'Influence of speech anxiety on oral communication skills among ESL/EFL learners', Advances in Language and Literary Studies, 6 (6), 49-53.
- Kitchakarn, O. (2014) 'Developing writing abilities of EFL students through blogging", *The Turkish online journal of distance education TOJDE*, 15(4), 34-47.
- Lantz-Andersson, A., Vigmo, S. and Bowen, R. (2013). 'Crossing boundaries in Facebook: Students' framing of language learning activities as extended spaces', International Journal of Computer-Supported Collaborative Learning, 8, 293-312.
- Levy, M. (2009) 'Technologies in use for second language learning', *The Modern Language Journal*, 93 (1), 769-782.
- Liu, M.; Abe, K.; Cao, M. W.; Liu, S.; Ok, D. U.; Park, J.; Parrish, C. and Sardegna, V. G. (2015) 'An analysis of social network websites for language learning: Implications for teaching and learning English as a second language', *CALICO Journal*, 32 (1), 113-152.
- Liu, M. (2018) 'Interactive effects of English-speaking anxiety and strategy use on oral English test performance of high- and low-proficient Chinese university EFL learners', *Cogent Education*, 5 (1).

Manca, S. and Ranieri, M. (2013) 'Is it a tool suitable for learning? A critical

review of the literature on Facebook as a technology-enhanced learning environment', *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 29 (6), 487-504.

- Manca, S. and Ranieri, M. (2016) 'Is Facebook still a suitable technologyenhanced learning environment? An updated critical review of the literature from 2012 to 2015', *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 32 (6), 503-528.
- Mayumi, H. (2013) 'A Facebook project for Japanese university students (2): Does it really enhance student interaction, learner autonomy, and English abilities?", Research-publishing.net, Paper presented at the 2013 EUROCALL Conference (Évora, Portugal, Sep 11-14, 2013)
- Mompean, J.A. and Fouz-González, J. (2016) 'Twitter-based EFL pronunciation instruction', *Language learning & technology*, 20 (1), 166.
- Naghdipour, B. and Eldridge, N.H. (2016) 'Incorporating social networking sites into traditional pedagogy: A case of Facebook', *TechTrends*, 60 (6), 591-597.
- Nagulendra, S. and Vassileva, J. (2015) 'Providing awareness, explanation and control of personalized filtering in a social networking site', *Information systems frontiers*, 18 (1), 145-158.
- Nachoua, H. (2012) 'Computer-assisted language learning for improving students' listening skill", *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 69, 1150-1159.
- Nikbakht, E. and Boshrabadi, A.M. (2015) 'Analysing the potential of social networking sites on EFL learners' vocabulary mastery: A situated-learning approach", *Theory and practice in language studies*, 5 (8), 1635.
- Nowell, L.S., Norris, J.M., White, D.E. and Moules, N.J. (2017) 'Thematic analysis: Striving to meet the trustworthiness criteria', *International*

Journal of Qualitative Methods, 16 (1), 1-13.

- O'Connor, S., Jolliffe, S., Stanmore, E., Renwick, L. and Booth, R. (2018) 'Social media in nursing and midwifery education: A mixed study systematic review', *Journal of advanced nursing*, 74 (10), 2273-2289.
- Oudeyer, P., Gottlieb, J. and Lopes, M. (2016) 'Intrinsic motivation, curiosity, and learning: Theory and applications in educational technologies', *Progress in brain research*, 229, 257-284.
- Özdemir, E. (2017) 'Promoting EFL learners' intercultural communication effectiveness: a focus on Facebook', *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, 30(6), 510-528.
- Patton, M. Q. (1999). Enhancing the quality and credibility of qualitative analysis. Health services research, 34(5 Pt 2), 1189.
- Pellet, S.H. (2012). 'Wikis for building content knowledge in the foreign language classroom', *CALICO JOURNAL*, 29 (2).
- Pew Research Center (2011) Social networking sites and our lives. Available from:<u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2011/06/16/social-netwo</u> <u>rking-sites-and-our-lives/</u> (Last accessed 16th June 2011).
- Plonsky, L. (2011) 'The effectiveness of second language strategy instruction: A meta-analysis', *Language Learning*, 61 (4), 993-1038.
- Phua, J., Jin, S.V. and Kim, J. (2017) 'Uses and gratifications of social networking sites for bridging and bonding social capital: A comparison of Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, and Snapchat', *Computers in Human Behavior*, 72, 115-122.
- Qarajeh, M. and Adbolmanafi-Rokni, S.J. (2015) 'The Impact of Social Networking on the Oral Performance of EFL Learners', *Advances in Language and Literary Studies*, 6 (2), 51-56.

- Raniah, K. and Tariq, E. (2018) 'The effects of YouTube in multimedia instruction for vocabulary learning: Perceptions of EFL students and teachers', *English Language Teaching*, 11 (2), 72-81.
- Razak, N.A., Saeed, M., Ahmad, Z. (2013) 'Adopting social networking sites (SNSs) as interactive communities among English foreign language (EFL) learners in writing: Opportunities and Challenges', English Language Teaching, 6 (11), 187-198.
- Reinhardt, J. (2019) 'Social media in second and foreign language teaching and learning: Blogs, wikis, and social networking', *Language Teaching*, 52 (1), 1-39.
- Rodliyah, R.S. (2016) 'Using a Facebook closed group to improve EFL students' writing', *TEFLIN journal*, 27 (1), 82.
- Rosen, L.D., Whaling, K., Rab, S., Carrier, L.M. and Cheever, N.A. (2013) 'Is Facebook creating "iDisorders"? The link between clinical symptoms of psychiatric disorders and technology use, attitudes and anxiety', *Computers in human behavior*, 29 (3), 1243-1254.
- Ryan, R.M. and Deci, E.L. (2000), 'Intrinsic and extrinsic motivations: Classic definitions and new directions', *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 25 (1), 54-67.
- Saad, K., Soufi, N. and O'Day Nicholas, M. (2015) 'Blogs as a way to enhancing EFL reading classes in a leabanese tertiary institution', *Teaching English with Technology*, 15 (1), 31-47.
- Savran Çelik, Seyd; Aydin, Selami (2016) 'Wiki effect on English as a foreign language writing achievement', *Online Submission, Global Journal of Foreign Language Teaching*, 6 (4), 218-227.

Schiro, M. (2013) Curriculum theory: conflicting visions and enduring

concerns(2nd edn). SAGE Publications, Thousand Oaks, Calif;London;.

- Schunk, D.H. and DiBenedetto, M.K. (2020) 'Motivation and social cognitive theory', *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 60, 101832.
- Seabrook, E.M., Kern, M.L. and Rickard, N.S. (2016) 'Social networking sites, depression, and anxiety: A systematic review', *JMIR mental health*, 3 (4), 50.
- Simpson, M.N. (2012) 'ESL@Facebook: A teacher's diary on using Facebook', Teaching English with Technology, 12 (3), 36-48.
- Snelson, C.L. (2016) 'Qualitative and mixed methods social media research: A review of the literature', International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 15 (1), 1-13.
- Suadah, L. (2014) 'Enhancing EFL learners' writing skills through blogging', Englisia Journal, 2 (1), 20-29.
- Sulaiman, A. (2017) 'social networking sites as ESL\EFL learning and teaching tools: A critical review', International Journal of Applied Linguistics & English Literature, 6 (3), 34-42.
- Sun, Y. and Yang, F. (2013) 'I help, therefore, I learn: service learning on Web 2.0 in an EFL speaking class', *Computer assisted language learning*, 28 (3), 202-219.
- Sun, Z., Lin, C., You, J., Shen, H.j., Qi, S. and Luo, L. (2017) 'Improving the English-speaking skills of young learners through mobile social networking', *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, 30 (3-4), 304-324.

Swann, P. (1992) 'Computer assisted language learning for english as a foreign

language', Computers & Education, 19 (3), 251-266.

- Taj, I.H., Sulan, N.B., Sipra, M.A. and Ahmad, W. (2016) 'Impact of mobile assisted language learning (MALL) on EFL: A meta-Analysis', *Advances in language and literary studies*, 7 (2), 76-83.
- Talakoub, S. (2018) 'The effect of mobile social networking as a supplementary strategy on EFL learners' writing ability', *International Journal of Applied Linguistics and English Literature*, 7 (2), 9-19.
- Taskiran, A.; Gumusoglu, E.K. and Aydin, B. (2018) 'Fostering foreign language learning with Twitter: Reflections from English learners', *Turkish Online Journal of Distance Education*, 19 (1), 100-116.
- Tavakoli, H., Lotfi, A.R., Biria, R. and Wang, S. (2019) 'Effects of CALL-mediated TBLT on motivation for L2 reading', *Cogent education*, 6 (1).
- Thapa, S. (2017) 'Social networking service (SNS) enhancing the learning environment of youth: As an effective tool: Extended Abstract', *ACM*, 798.
- Vurdien, R. (2013) 'Enhancing writing skills through blogging in an advanced English as a Foreign Language class in Spain', *Computer assisted language learning*, 26 (2), 126-143.
- Wang, I., Ahn, J.N., Kim, H.J. and Lin-Siegler, X. (2017) 'Why do international students avoid communicating with Americans?', *Journal of International Students*, 7 (3), 555.
- Yang, Y.C. and Chang, L. (2008) 'No improvement—reflections and suggestions on the use of Skype to enhance college students' oral English proficiency', *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 39 (4), 721-725.
- Yen, Y., Hou, H. and Chang, K.E. (2015) 'Applying role-playing strategy to enhance learners' writing and speaking skills in EFL courses using Facebook

and Skype as learning tools: a case study in Taiwan', *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, 28 (5), 383-406.

- Zou, B., Wang, D. and Xing, M. (2016) 'Collaborative tasks in Wiki-based environment in EFL learning', *Computer assisted language learning*, 29 (5), 1001-1018.
- Zourou, K. (2008) 'Social networking affordances for open educational language practice', Alsic, 2016: Social dynamics in open educational language practice, 19 (1).